
1A magistrate judge’s lawful authority to rule on a disqualification motion falls within the
“pretrial duties” or “additional duties” delegated to magistrate judges under the Federal Magistrates
Act. See 28 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1)(A); Affeldt v. Carr, 628 F. Supp. 1097, 1100-01 (N.D. Ohio 1985),
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

LAYNE CHRISTENSEN COMPANY,
and DR. ARUP SENGUPTA,

Plaintiffs,     CIVIL ACTION

v. No. 09-2381-JWL-GLR
  

THE PUROLITE COMPANY,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

In this action for patent infringement and breach of contract, Plaintiffs allege that Defendant,

as a former licensee, infringed upon a patent for removal of arsenic from drinking water and

breached the post-termination provisions of their license agreement.  Currently pending before the

Court is Plaintiffs’ Motion to Disqualify Counsel (ECF No. 115).  Plaintiffs request that the Court

enter an order to disqualify attorney Robert C. Sullivan, Jr. and his current law firm, Fish &

Richardson, from representing Defendant in this action.  As set forth below, the motion is denied.1

I. Facts

The Court makes the following findings of fact:

In the Spring of 2003, Drs. Arup SenGupta, (“SenGupta”) and Luis Cumbal invented certain

technology used to selectively remove contaminants, such as arsenic, from water or other fluids (the

“SenGupta Technology”).  The SenGupta Technology is the subject of United States Letters Patent



2SenGupta-SolmeteX License Agreement (ECF No. 14-3), § 2.1.

3Id., § 4.1.2.
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No. 7,291,578 (the “‘578 patent”), the patent at issue in this action.

On November 25, 2003, SenGupta and SolmeteX, Inc. (“SolmeteX”) entered into a license

agreement (hereafter the “SenGupta-SolmeteX License Agreement”), which licensed the SenGupta

Technology to SolmeteX.  It granted SolmeteX an exclusive worldwide license, including the right

to grant sublicenses, practice all methods and processes claimed or disclosed in the ‘578 patent,

make, use, import, sell, and to otherwise use and exploit the SenGupta Technology.2  Section 4.1.2

of the SenGupta-SolmeteX License Agreement provided that SolmeteX was responsible for filing,

prosecuting and maintaining all licensed patents: 

Except as set forth in Section 4.1.1, [SolmeteX] shall be responsible for determining
the patent prosecution strategy for the Licensed Inventions and for filing, prosecuting
and maintaining all Licensed Patents at Licensee’s expense. [SenGupta] shall
cooperate with [SolmeteX] in regard thereto and shall take all actions requested by
[SolmeteX] in connection therewith. In addition, [SenGupta] will supply any
additional information relating to the inventions described in the Licensed Patents
that [SolmeteX] may reasonably request from time to time.3 

In 2004, SenGupta hired the law firm of Howson & Howson to file U.S. Patent Application

No. 10/925,600, which claimed priority to U.S. Provisional Application No. 60/538,131, and which

ultimately became the ‘578 patent.  

Applying the SenGupta Technology to resin beads manufactured by Defendant The Purolite

Company (“Purolite”), SolmeteX commercialized a product that can be used to remove arsenic from

water.  On September 29, 2004, SolmeteX and Purolite entered into an agreement entitled

“Exclusive Manufacturing, Supply and Distribution Agreement” (the “SolmeteX-Purolite
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Agreement”).4  Under this agreement, SolmeteX appointed Purolite as its exclusive manufacturer

and supplier.  It also granted Purolite a sublicense of SolmeteX’s intellectual property to the extent

necessary to manufacture, supply, and distribute the product.  Section 4.6 of the agreement set out

each party’s rights and responsibilities with regard to patent prosecution:

SolmeteX is currently in the process of applying for a United States patent related
to the [product] on behalf of [SenGupta], to which SolmeteX has exclusive
worldwide rights.  Purolite will be responsible during the Term, at its own cost, for
worldwide patent filings in those countries they deem appropriate following the
issuance of US patent(s). Purolite will keep SolmeteX informed of the progress of
such patent applications, and will allow SolmeteX the ability to review and comment
on all correspondence and official documentation relating thereto. Purolite will
promptly inform SolmeteX of any decisions it may make not to pursue certain
patents or related applications (which shall be limited to those made in good faith
business judgment). SolmeteX will have the right to pursue any such patents and
related applications in its sole name and at its expense, and Purolite agrees to provide
reasonable assistance requested by SolmeteX in that process.5

On or about January 13, 2005, the law firm of Howson & Howson filed an international

patent application, pursuant to the Patent Cooperation Treaty entitled “Method of Manufacture and

Use of Hybrid Anion Exchanger for Selective Remove of Contaminating Ligands from Fluids,”

using the subject matter disclosed in the ‘578 patent.6  The application listed SenGupta and Cumbal

as the applicants and was signed by George A. Smith, Jr. of Howson & Howson, as attorney for

applicants.7  The application claims priority of the earlier filed U.S. patent application for the same

SenGupta Technology which became the ‘578 patent. 

In the summer of 2006 Purolite retained Robert C. Sullivan, Jr. (“Sullivan”), who was then



8Def.’s Opp. to Pls.’ Mot. to Disqualify (ECF No. 118), at 5.
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a member of the Darby & Darby law firm, “to engage foreign patent lawyers to prosecute several

national phase entries of the [Patent Cooperation Treaty] application.”8  Plaintiffs contend that

Purolite hired Sullivan “to prosecute on SenGupta’s behalf (as applicant and inventor) several

national phase entries of the [Patent Cooperation Treaty] application for the SenGupta

Technology.”9  In letters dated July 11, 2006, Marie Collazo, Director of Patent Services of the

Darby & Darby firm, directed  local counsel in Germany and in Japan to “initiate national phase

procedures” in those countries for the January 13, 2005 international patent application.10  The letters

specifically identified SenGupta as the applicant of the European national phase application and

copied Sullivan and Stefan Brodie, of Purolite International, Ltd., on the correspondence. 

On July 31, 2006, Marie Collazo of Darby & Darby sent a letter to Stefan Brodie of Purolite

International, Ltd., regarding the European patent application.11  The letter noted that the Patent

Cooperation Treaty was published with the International Search Report, and requested that Mr.

Brodie provide a copy when the Report was made available.  

On August 2, 2006, Flynn Barrison, Assistant Patent Services Manager at Darby & Darby,

sent a letter to Stefan Brodie about the Japanese patent application.12  It enclosed correspondence,

confirming that the Japanese national phase of the application was filed with the Japanese Patent

Office.  The letter also advised of the deadline for, and costs associated with, requesting examination
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of the application.  Sullivan was copied on the correspondence.

On August 30, 2006, Marie Collazo of Darby & Darby sent to Stefan Brodie a letter,

enclosing a copy of the official filing receipt for the Hong Kong application.13  Sullivan was copied

on the letter.

On November 15, 2006, Flynn Barrison sent another letter to Stefan Brodie regarding the

European patent application.14  The letter inquired whether an amendment should be prepared to

amend the specification and claims.  Flynn Barrison sent another letter to Stefan Brodie on

December 20, 2006, enclosing a copy of the official Notification from the European Patent Office.15

The letter also quoted the cost of filing a request to record registration of a patent application in

Hong Kong, based upon a published European patent application.  Sullivan was copied on all the

correspondence.

On January 18, 2007, Flynn Barrison, informed foreign local counsel that “[o]ur client is

interested in obtaining coverage in Hong Kong” and directed local counsel to register SenGupta’s

international patent application for the SenGupta Technology in Hong Kong.16  Sullivan and Stefan

Brodie were copied on this correspondence, regarding SenGupta’s Hong Kong national phase entry.

On or about November 30, 2007, in connection with an Agreement of Sale between

SolmeteX and Plaintiff Layne Christensen Company (“Layne”), Layne acquired SolmeteX’s assets,

including SolmeteX’s rights in the November 25, 2003 SenGupta-SolmeteX Agreement.
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In December 2008 SenGupta emailed Gary Thundercliff of Purolite about revoking

SenGupta’s agreement with SolmeteX and entering into an agreement with Purolite.  In an email

dated January 6, 2009, Gary Thundercliff told SenGupta that he would have Sullivan of Darby &

Darby call to “hear your situation.”17  According to Sullivan, the topic of his conversation in January

2009 with SenGupta was SenGupta’s belief that SolmeteX had stolen from him certain intellectual

property and his desire to end his relationship with SolmeteX and to enter into an agreement with

Purolite (to the exclusion of SolemeteX).18  Sullivan states that at the onset of the call, he inquired

whether SenGupta had his own counsel who would participate in the call.19  SenGupta told Sullivan

that he was not represented by any lawyer.20  Sullivan then advised SenGupta that neither he nor

Darby & Darby represented him and that they represented only Purolite.21 

On July 15, 2009, Sullivan transferred Darby & Darby’s files of “Purolite International, Ltd.

For [SenGupta]” to attorney Richard Johnson of Husch Blackwell Sanders.22  The letter identified

the files as the Hong Kong, European, and Japanese patent applications for “Method of Manufacture

and Use of Hybrid Anion Exchanger for Selective Removal of Contaminating Ligands From Fluids.”

The letter states: 

Further to your e-mail of July 1, 2009 on behalf of your client, Layne Christensen,
we are hereby transferring the above-identified files to you.  Accordingly, our firm
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has terminated its representation with respect to these three patent applications. . .
. We have also informed the associates in foreign countries that we are no longer
responsible for prosecution and maintenance, and that further correspondence should
be directed to your firm.23  

Mr. Johnson acknowledged receipt of the files on August 3, 2009.24

On July 21, 2009, Layne, having acquired SolmeteX, filed this action, asserting claims for

patent infringement and breach of contract against Purolite.  It alleges that Purolite, a former

licensee, infringed upon the ‘578 patent by its refusal to stop making and selling the arsenic removal

product after termination of the SolmeteX-Purolite Agreement.  It also alleges that Purolite breached

the post-termination provisions of the agreement. 

On August 28, 2009, local counsel for Purolite filed a motion for Sullivan to appear pro hac

vice.25  The Court granted the unopposed motion on September 14, 2009.26  

On September 17, 2009, Purolite filed a motion to transfer the case and to dismiss it for

failure to join a party.  It argued that SenGupta, as the owner and licensor of the ‘578 patent, was

a necessary party to the action.  The Court granted the motion to join a necessary party,27 and

SenGupta was added as a plaintiff on December 18, 2009.28

On March 24, 2010, Purolite’s local counsel filed a Notice of Change of Firm and Address
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for Sullivan.  It stated that he was no longer affiliated with the law firm Darby & Darby.29  The

Notice further indicates that he recently joined the law firm of Fish & Richardson and would

continue as counsel for Purolite.

On September 15, 2010, Purolite filed its Second Amended Answer, in which it asserted a

counterclaim, attacking the validity of the ‘578 patent.30  On September 29, 2010, Plaintiffs filed the

instant motion to disqualify Sullivan and his current law firm, Fish & Richardson, from representing

Purolite.

II. Summary of the Legal Arguments of the Parties

Plaintiffs ask the Court to disqualify Sullivan and his current law firm, Fish & Richardson,

from representing Purolite, based upon his alleged prior representation of SenGupta, who is now a

co-plaintiff in this action.  They contend that in 2006, before Purolite was adverse to SenGupta,

Purolite hired Sullivan and his law firm to prosecute foreign patent applications on behalf of

SenGupta, as the applicant, for the same technology as claimed in the ‘578 patent at issue in this

case.  Plaintiffs thus claim that Sullivan, through his work on the foreign counterpart patent

applications, previously represented SenGupta.  They argue that, in the course of that representation,

he has therefore been privy to privileged information about  the ‘578 patent, which is at issue in this

case.  In addition to his alleged prior representation of SenGupta in 2006, Plaintiffs state that in

January 2009 SenGupta and Sullivan engaged in at least one conversation about SenGupta’s

situation with Layne and Purolite.

Purolite opposes the motion on several grounds.  It argues that Plaintiffs have failed to show
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that Sullivan had an attorney-client relationship with SenGupta or that his firm’s prosecution of the

foreign counterpart patents is substantially related or materially adverse to this litigation.  It further

argues that Plaintiffs have failed to show any appearance of impropriety in this case and suggests

that their motion is only for strategic reasons. It also argues that the motion should be denied,

because Plaintiffs unjustifiably and unduly delayed its filing for thirteen months after Sullivan was

admitted pro hac vice.   

III. Legal Standards for Ruling on a Motion to Disqualify Counsel

The control of attorneys’ conduct in litigation is within the supervisory powers of the district

court and, therefore, is a matter of judicial discretion.31  Motions to disqualify are governed by two

sources of authority.32   First, attorneys are bound by the local rules of the court in which they

appear. Federal district courts usually adopt the Rules of Professional Conduct of the states where

they are situated.33  Second, because motions to disqualify counsel in federal proceedings are

substantive motions that affect the rights of the parties, they are decided by applying standards

developed under federal law.34  Therefore, motions to disqualify are governed by the ethical rules

announced by the national profession and considered in light of the public interest and the litigants’

rights.35  

The Kansas Rules of Professional Conduct (“KRPC”) have been adopted by this Court as
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39Chapman Eng’rs, 766 F. Supp. at 954 (citing W.T. Grant Co. v. Haines, 531 F.2d 671 (2d
Cir. 1976)).

40Biocore Med. Techs., 181 F.R.D. at 664 (citing Koch v. Koch Indus., 798 F. Supp. 1525,
1530 (D. Kan. 1992)).

41U.S. v. Trujillo, 302 F. Supp. 2d 1239, 1255 (D. Kan. 2004).

42Regent Ins. Co. v. Ins. Co. of N. Am., 804 F. Supp. 1387, 1390 (D. Kan. 1992); Williams
v. KOPCO, Inc., Civ. A. No. 94-1541-FGT, 1996 WL 137840, at *3 (D. Kan. Mar. 8, 1996).

10

the “applicable standards of professional conduct.”36  The Court has the power to disqualify counsel

at its discretion for violations of these professional standards of ethics.37  Ethical violations,

however, do not automatically trigger disqualification.38  Disqualification is appropriate only where

the offending attorney’s conduct threatens to “taint the underlying trial” with a serious ethical

violation.39  Because disqualification affects more than merely the attorney in question, the Court

must satisfy itself that this blunt remedy serves the purposes behind the ethical rule in question.40

To disqualify counsel, the court must find the conflict of interest already existent or probable to

occur.41  The moving party bears the initial burden of going forward with evidence sufficient to

establish a prima facie case that a conflict exists; however, the ultimate burden of proof lies with the

attorney or firm whose disqualification is sought.42  

A motion to disqualify must be decided on its own facts, and the court must carefully balance

the interest in protecting the integrity of the judicial process against the right of a party to have the
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counsel of its choice.43  In deciding a motion to disqualify counsel, the trial court must balance

several competing considerations.  They include the privacy of the attorney-client relationship, the

prerogative of a party to choose counsel, and the hardships that disqualification imposes upon the

parties and the entire judicial process.44 

The court reviews such a motion mindful that it can be used as a part of the litigation strategy

or as a technique for harassing the other side.45  The court generally defers the issues of ethics to the

appropriate disciplinary machinery, except in those cases where the challenged conduct threatens

to taint the process.46  The court decides the motion on the facts peculiar to each case in an effort to

balance carefully the interest of protecting the integrity of the process against the right of a party to

the counsel of its choice.47  A motion to disqualify counsel deserves serious, conscientious, and

conservative treatment.48  

The Court recognizes that in some instances an evidentiary hearing is required before the

court may enter an order to disqualify counsel.49  However, an evidentiary hearing is not required

when the parties have fully briefed the issue and when there are no disputed issues of material facts
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or there is otherwise no need for any additional evidence to be presented to the court.50  This matter

has been fully briefed by both sides, neither side has requested a hearing, and the material facts that

relate to disqualification are not in dispute.  Having reviewed the pleadings and evidence submitted

by the parties, the Court does not find it necessary to conduct an evidentiary hearing before ruling

on the instant motion to disqualify counsel.

IV. Whether Purolite’s Counsel Should Be Disqualified Based upon an Alleged Conflict of
Interest with SenGupta

Plaintiffs contend that Sullivan’s representation of Purolite in this matter, after he and his

firm previously prosecuted foreign patent applications on behalf of SenGupta, violates Kansas Rule

of Professional Conduct 1.9(a).  That Rule provides that:

A lawyer who has formerly represented a client in a matter shall not thereafter
represent another person in the same or a substantially related matter in which that
person's interests are materially adverse to the interests of the former client unless
the former client gives informed consent, confirmed in writing.

Under KRPC 1.9, a party seeking to disqualify opposing counsel must establish that “(1) an

actual attorney-client relationship existed between the moving party and the opposing counsel; (2)

the present litigation involves a matter that is ‘substantially related’ to the subject of the movant's

prior representation; and (3) the interests of the opposing counsel's present client are materially

adverse to the movant.”51  If the movant establishes the first two prongs, an irrebuttable presumption

arises that the client has revealed facts to the attorney that require the attorney’s disqualification.52
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A. Whether an Attorney-client Relationship Existed Between SenGupta and
Sullivan

The party seeking to disqualify opposing counsel must first demonstrate that an

attorney-client relationship existed between the party and the challenged counsel.53  An

attorney-client relationship need not have a formal contract.54  Nor is the existence of a relationship

dependent upon the payment of legal fees.55  Instead, an attorney-client relationship can be

established where the party shows that (1) it submitted confidential information to a lawyer and (2)

it did so with the reasonable belief that the lawyer was acting as the party’s attorney.56

The Court finds none of the traditional indicia of an attorney-client relationship between

SenGupta and Sullivan in this case.  Purolite has filed the Declaration of Sullivan in support of its

position that no attorney-client relationship existed between Sullivan and SenGupta.  Sullivan

thereby states that he has never had any conversations with SenGupta concerning the ‘578 patent,

or any foreign counterparts.57  Aside from discovery in this action, he has never received any

documents from SenGupta or SolmeteX concerning the ‘578 patent or any foreign counterparts of

the ‘578 patent.58  With regard to the work his former law firm Darby & Darby performed on the

foreign counterparts, Sullivan states that all instructions that the firm received came from Purolite,
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and all legal fees incurred in connection with the foreign counterpart patent applications were paid

by Purolite.59  In Darby & Darby’s record keeping system, Purolite was identified as the “client” for

all of the foreign counterpart patent applications.  Darby & Darby reported any progress concerning

the foreign counterparts to Purolite only.60 

Plaintiffs have provided no information from SenGupta himself that would contradict or

refute any of Sullivan’s declarations.  SenGupta has made no assertion that he submitted confidential

information to Sullivan or that he believed that Sullivan ever represented him.  The Court finds the

silence of SenGupta, himself a co-plaintiff in this case, significant.  He has made no comment, either

by way of affidavit, declaration, or testimony.  Without any supporting facts from SenGupta himself,

Plaintiffs argue that he subjectively believed that Sullivan or Darby & Darby represented him or his

interests when it pursued the foreign patent applications at Purolite’s behest.  But they have made

no showing that SenGupta retained Sullivan or Darby & Darby, obtained legal advice or services

from them, communicated with them during the foreign application process, paid them, or otherwise

had reason to believe that they were representing him.  SenGupta had previously retained another

law firm, Howson & Howson, to prosecute his U.S. and international applications, filed in 2004 and

2005.

Nor do Plaintiffs offer any evidence to refute the declaration by Sullivan that his and Darby

& Darby’s client was Purolite, not SenGupta.  The correspondence about its work on the foreign

counterpart patent applications supports the contention that Purolite was the client of Sullivan and

Darby & Darby, not SenGupta.  Aside its communications with foreign lawyers, Darby & Darby
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addressed all its correspondence to Stefan Brodie of Purolite International, Ltd.  It addressed none

of it to SenGupta.  Nor did they send him copies.  Contrary to what Plaintiffs suggest, the Court

construes the reference to “our client” in Flynn Barrison’s letter of January 18, 2007 to local counsel

in Germany as a reference to Purolite, not SenGupta.  The evidence before the Court indicates that

Purolite retained Sullivan and Darby & Darby and sought and paid for their legal services in

pursuing the foreign counterpart patent applications to the ‘578 patent.  Plaintiffs have provided no

written contract or retainer agreement to indicate that these lawyers also represented SenGupta.  Nor

does the Court find any evidence of an informal relationship, whereby Sullivan or Darby & Darby

performed legal services gratuitously for SenGupta.  Under the traditional indicia of an attorney-

client relationship, Plaintiffs have failed to show that such relationship existed between SenGupta

and Sullivan or either of his firms.

B. Whether an Attorney-client Relationship Should be Implied When Sullivan and
His Former Law Firm Prosecuted the Foreign Patent Applications on
SenGupta’s Behalf

Plaintiffs argue that an attorney-client relationship arose between Sullivan and SenGupta,

when he and his former law firm prosecuted the foreign patent applications on his behalf as owner

of the ‘578 patent.  Plaintiffs argue that Purolite, as a licensee of the SenGupta Technology, had no

independent right to his inventions or to prosecute the patent applications, which are equitably

owned by SenGupta.  They point out that SenGupta was listed as the applicant on each of the patent

applications that Sullivan prosecuted in Europe, Hong Kong, and Japan. Although Purolite paid

Sullivan to prosecute the applications, they argue SenGupta was his client for the purpose of

obtaining the foreign patents.

Purolite denies that the work performed by Darby & Darby was on behalf of SenGupta.  It
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asserts instead that the work was on its own behalf, pursuant to its rights under the SometeX-Purolite

Agreement to control the prosecution of foreign counterpart patents.  It argues that SenGupta does

not arise to the status of a client simply by virtue of his being the named applicant in the foreign

patent applications. The Court must determine, therefore, whether Sullivan and his firm, by engaging

foreign patent lawyers to prosecute the European, Japanese, and Hong Kong counterpart patents, as

directed by Purolite under its sublicensing agreement with SolmeteX, created an implied attorney-

client relationship with SenGupta, due to his status as owner and being designated as “applicant”

on the foreign patent applications. 

In intellectual property cases, the inquiry whether an attorney-client relationship exists can

become complicated.61  This is particularly true, if the patented technology has been licensed or

sublicensed.  Patent licensing agreements often give the licensee certain rights to the patented

technology, including the right to independently pursue other patent applications and filings.  The

licensor or inventor often has an obligation under the licensing agreement to cooperate and assist

the licensee in obtaining these other patents.  Exercising its rights under the licensing agreement,

the licensee retains the services of patent counsel to obtain further patents.  This can include filing

patent applications in countries other than the United States.  As part of this process for filing

foreign patent applications, counsel for the licensee may need to communicate with and obtain

technical information from the inventor.  In addition, the inventor may be listed as the “applicant”
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on the applications.  

Thus the question arises:  Does the work of counsel for the licensee in prosecuting foreign

patent applications, including receipt of information from the inventor and identifying him by name

as applicant, and resulting in a benefit to him, create an implied attorney-client relationship with the

inventor?  To answer this question, the Court considers a number of factors:  (1) whether licensee

and inventor were jointly prosecuting the patent applications,62 (2) the nature of licensee counsel’s

communication and interactions with the inventor (were the communications solely technical in

nature),63 (3) whether the inventor chose licensee’s counsel,64 (4) whether it was clear that licensee’s

counsel was working on behalf of the licensee rather than the inventor65 (did counsel receive

instructions from inventor, whether counsel provided legal advice to inventor), (5) whether

licensee’s counsel had a fiduciary duty to the inventor, and (6) whether the inventor had a reasonable

belief that licensee’s counsel was also representing him. 

1. Whether Licensee and Inventor Were Jointly Prosecuting the Patent
Applications

Under the first factor, the Court considers whether SenGupta and Purolite were jointly

pursuing the foreign patent applications.  If they were, then this would tend to support a finding that



66670 F. Supp. 2d 201, 211 (S.D.N.Y. 2009). 

67Id. at 212.
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69In re Regents of Univ. of Cal., 101 F.3d 1386, 1389 (Fed. Cir. 1996) (citing Simpson v.
Motorists Mut. Ins. Co., 494 F.2d 850, 855 (7th Cir. 1974)).  

18

Purolite’s counsel also represented SenGupta.  In Merck Eprova AG v. ProThera, Inc.66  the

Southern District of New York granted Merck’s motion to disqualify one of the law firms

representing the defendant, finding that firm had previously jointly represented Merck and another

client, Bayer, in prosecuting patent applications on Merck’s product then at issue in the lawsuit.  In

Merck Eprova, although only Bayer engaged and paid the legal fees, the disqualified firm was

deemed to have represented both Bayer and Merck, who were co-owners of a patent and who

intended to file a joint patent application.  In addition, the court found that both Bayer and Merck

were clients of the firm “in the traditional sense.”67  The conflict of interest rules therefore precluded

the law firm from representing the defendant in the unfair competition action brought by Merck.68

The Court generally agrees with the proposition in Merck Eprova that, for purposes of

disqualification, when two parties are jointly prosecuting a patent application, they should be

considered to be jointly represented by the firm prosecuting the applications.  The rationale for this

is similar to the rationale of the “community of interest” doctrine, which provides that when the

same attorney represents the interests of two or more entities on the same matter, those represented

are viewed as joint clients for purposes of privilege.69 

In this case, however, Purolite is not a co-owner of the patent.  Nor did Purolite and

SenGupta intend or agree to jointly pursue the foreign counterpart patent applications.  Instead, the
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evidence shows that Purolite, authorized by the sublicensing agreement, retained Sullivan and his

law firm Darby & Darby to initiate the foreign counterpart applications in Europe, Japan, and Hong

Kong.  Sullivan and Darby & Darby acted solely at the behest of Purolite.  The fact that SenGupta

might also benefit from their work does not make him a client.  Unlike Merck Eprova, SenGupta,

the licensor, and Purolite, the sublicensee, were not jointly prosecuting the foreign patent

applications so as to establish a joint representation by the attorneys.  

2.  The Nature of Communication and Interactions Between Licensee’s
Counsel and Inventor 

The Court also considers the nature of the communication and interactions between the

inventor and counsel for the licensee.  The “normal communication of technical information to an

assignee’s attorney primarily to enable the attorney to prepare and prosecute a patent application”70

does not create an attorney-client relationship between the inventor and the patent licensee’s

counsel.  If counsel for the licensee obtained from the inventor confidential information that could

be used against him and give the licensee an unfair advantage in subsequent litigation, there may

arise an attorney-client relationship between the inventor and the counsel.  

Where a licensee has been given the right to prosecute further patent applications, counsel

for the patent licensee may need to meet, communicate, and even exchange confidential information

about the patent with the licensor or inventor.  A licensing agreement may even create a contractual

obligation for the inventor to provide this information.  In University of West Virginia Board of

Trustees v. Van Voorhies,71 the court held that the normal exchange of technical information from
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an inventor to his licensee’s patent counsel, meant primarily to aid the completion of patent

applications, does not create an attorney-client relationship between the inventor and the counsel.

It found none of the usual indicia of an attorney-client relationship between the inventor and the

licensee’s counsel.72  The court further found that the communications between the inventor and the

counsel were nothing more than “normal communication of technical information to an assignee’s

attorney primarily to enable the attorney to prepare and prosecute a patent application.”73   

If the information exchanged is not technical, the Court considers whether it would give the

licensee an unfair advantage in subsequent proceedings.  Under patent license agreements, it is not

unforeseeable that a licensee may end up in litigation with a patentee with whom the licensee has

a royalty arrangement.74  “Licensees may often be the only individuals with enough economic

incentive to challenge the patentability of an inventor’s discovery."75 

In Asyst Technologies v. Empak, Inc.,76 the plaintiff alleged that the defendant infringed its

patents.  The defendant argued that both patents were invalid.  Two partners at the law firm

representing the defendant had, as members of another firm, previously represented the plaintiff in

prosecuting the patents. Finding a substantial relationship between the two representations, the court

disqualified defense counsel and observed that “[f]ew people are more likely to have confidential
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information with which to attack the validity of a patent than the lawyers who prosecuted it.”77 

Sullivan states in his Declaration that he has never had any conversations with SenGupta

concerning the ‘578 patent, or any foreign counterparts.78  Aside from discovery in this action, he

has never received any documents from SenGupta or SolmeteX concerning the ‘578 patent or any

foreign counterparts of the ‘578 patent.79  Plaintiffs have not refuted these statements.  Other than

the January 2009 conversation between SenGupta and Sullivan, initiated upon the request of

SenGupta and not involving the foreign patent applications, there is no evidence of any

communication or exchange of information between SenGupta and Sullivan.   Accordingly, the

Court finds no persuasive evidence to imply an attorney-client relationship on the basis of any

interactions and communications between SenGupta and Sullivan.

3. Whether the Inventor Chose Licensee’s Counsel

The Court also considers whether the inventor of the patent chose the attorney or law firm

who prosecuted the licensee’s patent applications.  In Sun Studs, Inc. v. Applied Theory Associates,80

the Federal Circuit addressed the question of whether an attorney-client relationship existed between

an inventor and his assignee’s patent attorney, who prosecuted the patent application and for whom

the inventor executed a power of attorney.81  For the Sun Studs court, more important than a power

of attorney to prosecute a patent application were (1) the relationship between the inventor and the
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assignee’s patent counsel, and (2) the respective degree of control by the parties in choosing

counsel.82  If it is the assignee who selects counsel and the inventor’s relationship with assignee’s

counsel concerns only the technical content of the patent application, the assignee, and not the

inventor, will be deemed the client.83  Although the defendant argued that the challenged firm had

acted in the prosecution as an attorney for the inventor and not for the moving party, the Court

responded:

[I]t is routine for an inventor to execute an application appointing the attorneys who
prepared the application at the direction of the party to whom the application must
be assigned and on whose behalf it will be prosecuted. The choice of attorneys, like
the filing, is a decision by the assignee, not the inventor . . .

* * *

Should the company later find it necessary to sue on the patent, it is expected that the
company would choose its regular patent counsel for representation and whom the
inventor designated on its behalf.  Where the former relationship between the
inventor and the patent counsel was solely technical in nature, and where the patent
counsel in the former relationship was chosen by and at all times was working on
behalf of the company rather than the inventor, it should not serve as automatic
disqualification that the defendant is the inventor or a company with which he is
associated.84

Plaintiffs do not argue that SenGupta chose or otherwise exerted any influence over  Purolite

in choosing Sullivan and the Darby & Darby law firm in prosecuting the foreign patent applications.

SenGupta had previously used the services of another law firm, Howson & Howson, to prosecute

both his U.S. and his international patent applications.  The Court finds that SenGupta did not

choose Purolite’s counsel.
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4. Whether Licensee’s Counsel Was Working on Behalf of the Licensee
Rather than the Inventor 

The Court next considers whether it was clear that Sullivan and Darby & Darby were

working on behalf of Purolite, rather than SenGupta.   Relevant to this inquiry is whether SenGupta

directed the litigation or issued instructions to Sullivan and his law firm on how to proceed in the

foreign counterpart applications.  Also relevant is whether SenGupta requested, or licensee’s counsel

provided, legal advice concerning the foreign patent applications.  

In Sun Studs,85 the Federal Circuit found no sound basis for the disqualification of plaintiff’s

counsel. The court found that a power of attorney, executed by the inventor and appointing

assignee’s patent counsel, does not necessarily create an attorney-client relationship.86 The court

concluded that the relationship between the defendants-inventors and counsel for plaintiff was

technical at best and not sufficient to warrant his automatic disqualification. In reaching this

conclusion, the court relied on the following: (1) no agreement between inventors and attorney

regarding representation; (2) no fee from inventor to attorney; (3) no expectation of confidentiality

between the two; (4) the attorney denied being asked to represent the inventors; (5) the inventors

knew the attorney represented the company; and, (6) the inventors had previously consulted with

their own attorney.87

In another case with facts similar to this one, the Federal Circuit affirmed the district court

in finding that no attorney-client relationship existed between counsel for the patent assignee and
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the inventor.  In Telectronics Proprietary, Ltd. v. Medtronics, Inc.,88 the court found that the

attorneys were not disqualified from representing interests seeking to invalidate the patent, where

(1) it had been assigned to an entity who was not a client of the attorneys, (2) proof of invalidity of

the patent was limited to prior art that was not known at the time that the application was prosecuted,

and (3) there was no showing that attorneys obtained actual confidences that would give their

present client unfair advantage.89  The bottom line for the court was that “attorneys represent clients

- not legal positions or patents.”90  

Under the SolmeteX-Purolite Agreement, Purolite had the right and responsibility to

prosecute any foreign counterpart patents related to the ‘578 patent.  Section 4.6 of the SolmeteX-

Purolite Agreement provides that “Purolite will be responsible during the Term at its own cost for

worldwide patent filings in those countries they deem appropriate following issuance of US

patent(s).”  Pursuant to its right to prosecute foreign patent applications, Purolite retained Sullivan

and his law firm Darby & Darby to file foreign counterpart patent applications. Whatever role

Sullivan and his firm fulfilled with respect to those applications was clearly for the benefit of their

client, Purolite, who held the right to pursue them under its licensee agreement with SolmeteX.

Purolite directed and controlled the actions of these attorneys to engage foreign lawyers to file

foreign counterpart patent applications in Europe, Japan, and Hong Kong.  Purolite paid all the legal

fees incurred in connection with those applications.  The records of Darby & Darby identified

Purolite as the “client” for all the foreign counterpart patent applications.  The law firm reported any
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progress concerning them to Purolite only.  The evidence before the Court shows that Sullivan and

Darby & Darby were working on behalf of Purolite, not SenGupta. 

5. Whether Licensee’s Counsel Had a Fiduciary Duty to the Inventor 

The Court also finds that Sullivan and Darby & Darby owed no fiduciary duty to SenGupta

as a result of the work performed on the foreign counterpart patent applications for Purolite. While

he may have benefitted from the services that Darby & Darby rendered on behalf of its client

Purolite, the Court finds no evidence that SenGupta executed a power of attorney or otherwise

created a traditional principal-agent or other fiduciary relationship.91  

6. Whether the Inventor Had a Reasonable Belief That Licensee’s Counsel
Was Also Representing Him

Another factor the Court considers is whether SenGupta reasonably believed that Sullivan

or his law firm was also representing him in filing the foreign patent applications.  Plaintiffs have

not alleged that SenGupta entertained any such belief.  Sullivan states in his Declaration that he has

never had any conversations with SenGupta concerning the ‘578 patent, or any foreign

counterparts.92  Aside from discovery in this action, he has never received any documents from

SenGupta or SolmeteX concerning the ‘578 patent or any foreign counterparts of the ‘578 patent.93

Plaintiffs have not refuted these statements.  Other than the conversation in January 2009 between



26

SenGupta and Sullivan, which did not relate to the foreign patent applications, the Court finds no

evidence of any communication between SenGupta and Sullivan.  It finds no persuasive evidence

that SenGupta ever had a belief, reasonable or otherwise, that Sullivan represented him.

In summary, the Court does not find that an attorney-client relationship should be implied

between SenGupta and either Sullivan or his law firm.  SenGupta and Purolite were not jointly

prosecuting the foreign patent applications.  Although SenGupta was named as the applicant on the

applications and may have benefitted from the legal services provided by Sullivan to Purolite, those

facts by themselves do not imply an attorney-client relationship between SenGupta and Sullivan.

The Court finds no evidence of any communication or interactions between SenGupta and Sullivan

that relate to the foreign patent applications.  SenGupta did not choose Purolite’s counsel.  The facts

show that Sullivan was at all times acting on behalf of Purolite, not SenGupta.  Plaintiffs have not

shown that SenGupta reasonably believed that Sullivan was also representing him in prosecuting

the foreign patent applications.  The evidence fails to show that an implied attorney-client

relationship was created between SenGupta and Sullivan. 

C. Whether Sullivan and Darby & Darby’s Prosecution of the Foreign Patents Is
Substantially Related or Materially Adverse to the Present Litigation

If the Court had found an attorney-client relationship between SenGupta and Sullivan, it

nevertheless finds that the evidence fails to show that the legal work performed by Sullivan is

substantially related to the present litigation.  In applying the “substantial relation” test, the court

looks to whether the factual contexts of the two representations are substantially similar or related

or materially adverse to the present litigation.  The general test is whether a substantial relationship

exists between the pending suit and the matters in which the attorney is charged to have previously
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represented the client.94  Matters are “substantially related” for purposes of K.R.P.C. 1.9(a), if they

“involve the same transaction or legal dispute or if there otherwise is a substantial risk that

confidential factual information as would normally have been obtained in the prior representation

would materially advance the client’s position in the subsequent matter.”95 “The underlying question

is whether the lawyer was so involved in the matter that the subsequent representation can be justly

regarded as a changing of sides in the matter in question.”96 

Sullivan states in his Declaration that during the short period of time that Darby & Darby

was involved in the prosecution of the foreign counterparts, the work was overwhelmingly

ministerial in nature.97  He reports one instance of revisions the firm made to claim language to

address a formal requirement of Japanese patent law:

Upon information and belief, during this prosecution, there was one communication
from Darby & Darby to Purolite reporting an official action received from a law firm
in Japan engaged by Darby & Darby to handle the Japanese counterpart patent
application. This communication concerned revisions to certain claim language to
address a formal claiming requirement of Japanese patent law. This communication
was prepared by an associate attorney at Darby & Darby, and I may have reviewed
the letter before it was sent to Purolite.98

Sullivan further states that in connection with the foreign counterparts, he did not personally

communicate with any foreign patent lawyers, review any prior art, conduct any prior art searches,
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perform any legal analyses, prepare any responses or arguments in support of patentability, or

otherwise significantly participate in the substance of any work concerning the foreign counterparts,

although he was copied on at least some correspondence.  He further states that the foreign

counterpart patent work was performed by associate lawyers and patent agents at Darby & Darby.

The Darby & Darby correspondence supports Sullivan’s assertion that he was minimally

involved with the foreign patent applications.  None of the letters from Darby & Darby to Purolite

or to foreign counsel were signed by Sullivan, although he was copied on them.  From the

correspondence submitted, it appears that others at the Darby & Darby firm, namely Marie Collazo

and Flynn Barrison, actively prosecuted the foreign counterpart applications. The Court has no

reason to doubt Sullivan’s statement that he did not personally communicate with any foreign patent

lawyers, review any prior art, conduct any prior art searches, perform any legal analyses, prepare

any responses or arguments in support of patentability, or otherwise significantly participate in the

substance of any work concerning the foreign counterparts.  The Court cannot say that Sullivan was

so involved in the prosecution of the foreign patent applications that his subsequent representation

of Purolite in this action can be justly regarded as a changing of sides in the matter in question.  Any

involvement by Sullivan in the prosecution of the foreign patent applications for his client Purolite

does not appear to be substantially related to the present litigation and particularly to the issue of the

validity or invalidity of the U. S. ‘578 patent.

The Court further finds no fatal inconsistency between the legal services provided to Purolite

by Darby & Darby in pursuing the foreign patent registrations and the defense of invalidity of the

U. S. patent it asserts in this case.  Darby & Darby represented Purolite in its foreign counterpart

applications for the ‘578 patent in Europe, Japan, and Hong Kong.  Those applications of course
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identified SenGupta’s ‘578 patent for the purpose of registration.  And they assumed the validity of

the patent, without litigating it.  The Court finds nothing in the evidence to suggest that the

applications for foreign registrations engaged  Sullivan or his firm to prosecute or prove the validity

of the underlying U. S. ‘578 patent.  The evidence simply fails to show that, by asserting the defense

of invalidity of the patent, they are now taking a position materially adverse to their pursuit of

foreign registrations or that the defense of invalidity and those applications are so substantially

related as to require disqualification of counsel in this case.

  D. Whether Disqualification of Sullivan and His Current Law Firm Is Appropriate

Assuming arguendo that an attorney-client relationship existed between SenGupta and

Sullivan and that the work of his former law firm on the foreign patent applications is substantially

related to the present action under KRPC 1.9(a), such a conflict does not automatically require

disqualification of Sullivan and his current law firm from representing Purolite.  The Court must first

be certain that this blunt remedy serves the purposes behind KRPC 1.9.99  A motion to disqualify

counsel deserves serious, conscientious, and conservative treatment.100  “Because the interests to be

protected are critical to the judicial system, doubts are resolved in favor of disqualification.”101  

The Court balances several competing considerations in order to determine whether

disqualification is appropriate in the particular circumstances of the case.  These factors include: “(1)

the nature of the ethical violation, (2) the prejudice to the parties, including the extent of actual or
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potential delay in the proceedings, (3) the effectiveness of counsel in light of the violations, and (4)

the public’s perception of the profession.”102  In addition, “disqualification is only appropriate where

the offending attorney’s conduct threatens to ‘taint the underlying trial’ with a serious ethical

violation.”103

1. Nature of the Ethical Violation

The Court has concluded that there is no ethical violation.  But assuming arguendo an ethical

violation exists, the very limited amount of contact and communication between SenGutpa and

Sullivan, as well as his limited role in the firm’s work in prosecuting the foreign patent applications,

minimizes the risk that he has gained confidential factual information detrimental and materially

adverse to SenGupta in this case.  Sullivan has declared that he has never had any conversations with

SenGupta concerning the ‘578 patent, or any foreign counterparts.104  Nor has he ever received any

documents from SenGupta or SolmeteX concerning the ‘578 patent or its foreign counterparts, aside

from discovery in this litigation.105  This factor weighs against disqualification.

2. Prejudice to the Parties

The prejudice to the parties weighs in favor of allowing Purolite to keep its counsel of

choice.  Sullivan has represented Purolite since 2005.  During that time he has represented Purolite
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in multiple intellectual property matters, including patent prosecution, patent litigation, trademark

prosecution, and trademark litigation.  In the course of this representation he has become familiar

with the products and processes of Purolite, including those that are the subject of this litigation.

As its primary contact at both the Darby & Darby and Fish & Richardson law firms, he has built

relationships with its personnel.  He has gained familiarity with its business operations as they relate

to intellectual property matters.  Given his prior representation of Purolite and knowledge acquired

during that representation, along with the work performed thus far in the case, his disqualification,

unless justified by the facts, would be prejudicial and unjust to Purolite.

The Court finds less prejudice to Plaintiffs, if any, if Sullivan remains as counsel for Purolite.

Plaintiffs have not shown that his continued representation will put them at substantial risk for the

disclosure of adverse confidential information.  His Declaration denies any conversations with

SenGupta or receipt of documents from him or SolmeteX as to the ‘578 patent or any of its foreign

counterparts.106  Plaintiffs have neither refuted that statement nor otherwise shown that Sullivan

received confidential material about the ‘578 patent or any foreign counterparts from SenGupta.

This factor weighs against disqualifying defense counsel.

3. Effectiveness of Counsel

If Sullivan and his current law firm are disqualified from representing Purolite in this action,

the effectiveness of Purolite’s remaining counsel may be significantly diminished.  He has

represented Purolite since 2005 and was admitted early in this case.  He apparently is familiar with

the products and processes of Purolite, as well as with the issues in this litigation.  This factor
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weighs against disqualification.

4. Public’s Perception

The Court recognizes a risk of negative public perception, if Sullivan and members of his

current law firm continue to represent Purolite in this case.  Failure to analyze the facts can lead one

to assume indeed that they have pursued materially inconsistent positions with regard to the ‘578

patent.  The technology of the patent remains the same, whether it is the subject of applications for

foreign registration or of litigation as to its validity under U.S. patent law.  This can easily lead one

to believe that to deny validity is materially inconsistent with applying for foreign registrations,

which assume validity.  Much of Plaintiff’s argument rests upon that assumption, although the Court

has found that the facts before it fail to substantiate a material inconsistency.  The concern for public

perception is a factor that favors disqualification of Sullivan.

5. Threat of Representation Tainting this Case

Another factor is whether the offending attorney’s conduct threatens to taint the underlying

trial with a serious ethical violation.107  The court should disqualify opposing counsel if the

continued representation would threaten the integrity of the adversarial process.108  The risk of taint

is encountered when an attorney might benefit a current client by using confidential information

about a former client, obtained through prior representation of that client.109   The Court does not
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find that Sullivan ever represented SenGupta or received any confidential information from

SenGupta that would give Purolite an unfair advantage and taint the integrity of adversarial process.

The Court finds that the continued representation of Purolite by Sullivan and his current law firm

does not taint this case. This factor weighs against disqualification.

Under the particular facts and circumstances of this case, the Court concludes that the blunt,

disfavored remedy of disqualification of Sullivan and his current law firm, Fish & Richardson, from

representing Purolite in this action is not appropriate.  

V. Whether Plaintiffs’ Motion to Disqualify Was Unreasonably Delayed 

Merits of the motion aside, the Court finds that it should be denied for unjustifiable and

undue delay of its filing.  An unjustified delay in filing a motion to disqualify is sufficient grounds

for denying the request.110 “A litigant may not delay filing a motion to disqualify in order to use the

motion later as a tool to deprive his opponent of counsel of his choice after substantial preparation

of the case has been completed.”111  Factors a court should consider in determining whether the

moving party has waived its right to object to the opposing party’s counsel include:  (1) the length

of the delay in bringing a motion to disqualify, (2) when the movant learned of the conflict, (3)

whether the movant was represented by counsel during the delay, (4) why the delay occurred, (5)

whether disqualification would result in prejudice to the nonmoving party, and (6) whether the
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motion was delayed for tactical reasons.112

In Coffeyville Resources Refining and Marketing v. Liberty Surplus Insurance Corp.,113 the

court denied a motion to disqualify counsel as unjustifiably delayed.  It found that a delay of six

months between the pro hac vice admission of the attorneys and the filing of the motion to disqualify

them to be fatal to the motion.  The court noted that the moving party waited until motions for partial

summary judgment were fully briefed and discovery completed before moving to disqualify

counsel.114 The court found this delay to be inexcusable and unjustifiable, as well as unfairly

prejudicial.115    In addition to the Coffeyville case, Purolite has cited four cases from other districts

wherein the court denied motions to disqualify counsel because of unjustifiable delays in filing

them.116  

The Court concludes that Plaintiffs unjustifiably delayed their motion to disqualify Purolite’s

counsel.  They waited until a year after Sullivan was admitted pro hac vice in this action and nine

months after SenGupta was joined as a plaintiff.   Based upon their own present contentions,

Plaintiffs should have been aware of any potential conflict at least from the time of the joinder.
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Even before this action was filed, moreover, counsel for Plaintiff Layne was aware of the work

Sullivan and his firm Darby & Darby had performed with regard to the European, Japanese, and

Hong Kong foreign patent applications.  On July 15, 2009, Sullivan shipped his law firm’s files to

the law offices of Layne’s counsel.  They consisted of Darby & Darby’s files of “Purolite

International, Ltd. For [SenGupta]” pertaining to the European, Japanese, and Hong Kong patent

applications.117 

Plaintiffs deny any unjustified delay in filing their motion.  They assert that they filed it as

soon as a disabling conflict of interest became apparent.  They argue that, although Sullivan sought

admission to this case on August 28, 2009, the disabling conflict did not arise until Purolite filed its

Second Amended Answer and Counterclaim on September 15, 2010, asserting invalidity of the ‘578

patent.  Plaintiffs filed their motion two weeks later.  They say they could not have waived their

right to move for disqualification, inasmuch as existence of a conflict had not yet become manifest.

They argue that, even if the Court considers the delay to be thirteen months, it is not unjustified.

Although the case has been pending for over a year, little progress has been made toward a

resolution on the merits.  Plaintiffs admit that the parties have produced documents, but they point

out that no case deadline of any significance has passed.  Fact discovery is not set to close until June

10, 2011, with expert reports more than a month later, and trial a year away.

The Court is not persuaded by the argument that a disabling conflict did not arise until

Purolite filed it Second Amended Answer and Counterclaim.  In its Answer to Amended Complaint

(ECF No. 23), filed January 7, 2010, Purolite denied Layne’s allegations that the ‘578 patent was
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duly issued and is in full force and effect.  That denial should have alerted Layne that Purolite was

denying the validity of the ‘578 patent.  

The Court further finds that disqualification would result in prejudice to the nonmoving

party. This case has been on file since July 2009.  Since then the parties have exchanged written

discovery, including voluminous document production, conducted a Rule 30(b)(6) deposition, and

filed a number of contested motions.   A substantial amount of preparation occurred before this

motion.  The delay of nine months after SenGupta was joined as a plaintiff is unfairly prejudicial

to Purolite.  Considering all these factors, the Court finds that Plaintiffs’ Motion to Disqualify

should be denied as unreasonably delayed. 

VI. Defendant Purolite’s Request for Sanctions

Purolite asks the Court to consider monetary sanctions against Plaintiffs in an amount at least

for its costs in opposing the motion, because the motion is not substantially justified.  It argues that

public policy demands that parties be discouraged from filing frivolous motions for disqualification,

particularly when the record suggests they are made for strategic reasons.  

The Court finds that sanctions against Plaintiffs for filing the motion to disqualify are not

warranted.  Although denying the motion, the Court does not find it frivolous.  Plaintiffs raised

legitimate issues with regard to Sullivan and his former law firm and their work in prosecuting the

foreign counterpart patent applications.  For the reasons already discussed, the Court does not find

that Sullivan or his current law firm should be disqualified from representing Purolite in this case.

The Court does not find, however, that Plaintiffs filed the motion for improper purpose or that they

lacked any reasonable grounds for filing it.  Accordingly, it denies the request for sanctions.



37

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED THAT Plaintiffs’ Motion to Disqualify Counsel (ECF

No. 115) is denied, as set forth herein. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED THAT Defendant’s request for sanctions is denied.

Dated in Kansas City, Kansas on this 24th day of March, 2011.

S/ Gerald L. Rushfelt
Gerald L. Rushfelt
United States Magistrate Judge


